THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 28 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Case No. 2016-CP-07-1493
Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2020-001148

Juan Antonio Adame Tapia
and Oscar Moreno,

Appellants,

v.

Maria Walls, in her capacity
as Treasurer for Beaufort
County, Berkeley Hall Club,
Inc., Colleton River Plantation
Club, Inc., Callawassie Island
Property Owners Association,
Inc., Belfair Property Owners
Association, Inc., David
LaPorte, Karen B. Lester,
Timothy B. Hockman, Sheila
F. Hockman, Bill H.
Holshouser, Terry M. Ash,
Patricia Ash, and Corey T.
Brewer,

Defendants

B. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondent County of Beaufort on the issue of whether Appellants were entitled to cancel or assign their tax sale bid when such requests were made at the stipulated times.
2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondent County of Beaufort on the issue of whether their stipulated course of dealing regarding pre-collection of filing fees and application of amounts over bid complied with the statutory requirements of S.C. Code Section 12-51-130.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants attended the October 2014 Beaufort County tax sale, together with a third party not involved in the subject litigation or appeal. Appellant Antonio Adame did not speak English or read English at the time of the tax sale. Appellant Oscar Moreno was able to read and write English on a limited basis at the time of the sale. Prior to attending the Beaufort County tax sale in 2014, neither Appellant were familiar with South Carolina tax sale procedures nor had not previously purchased tax sale property. The County Treasurer's office did not provide information at the tax sale itself regarding the properties subject to bidding, and neither Appellant received any information or regarding the bid and property acquisition process prior to sale.

At the tax sale, Mr. Adame successfully bid upon seven properties situated in private communities including Belfair Plantation, Callawassie Island and Berkeley Hall Plantation private communities in Beaufort County (hereinafter "Communities"). Mr. Moreno successfully bid on two properties located in Colleton River Plantation. The third-party associate who attended with Appellants supplied the bid funds for at least four of the properties that Mr. Adame bid upon. All of the properties bid upon were and remain undeveloped lots.

The Appellants did not receive further information from the County regarding their bids in the bidding year, being calendar year 2014. In 2015, just prior to the expiration of the redemption period, Appellants received information from one or more of the Communities regarding looming association assessments and significant initiation fees to be billed to Appellants. Thereafter, and prior to the expiration of the redemption period, Appellants contacted the County by phone, and ultimately visited the Treasurer's office in person, and expressly requested that their bids be cancelled. [Stipulation of Facts No. 5 and 6.] Appellants were informed that their bids could not be cancelled. Next, Appellants asked if they could assign their bids prior to a deed being issue and it is their recollection that they were told they could not. [Stipulation of Facts No. 5 and No. 6].

Appellants also attempted to assign or cancel their bids after the expiration of the redemption period by communication with the Treasurer by their litigation counsel, Mr. Mogil. [Stipulation of Facts No. 7].

The County recorded Tax Deeds vesting title into the Appellants in or around January 2016, before and without further contact with the Appellants. Immediately thereafter Appellants received demands for initiation fees and assessments from the various private

Communities in which the lots were located. To date, these unpaid fees and assessments have compiled and now amount to hundreds of thousands of dollars, significantly damaging Appellants and the Communities. Appellants did not occupy or visit their bid properties nor use the underlying private community facilities or clubs at any time before or after bidding. The Communities separately filed suits against Appellants to collect sums due against Appellants.

In 2016 Appellants filed suit seeking to set aside the 2014 tax sale for the reasons argued herein. Within the same suit, Appellants also filed separate claims against the private Communities, which claims are not presently before the Court of Appeals.

Prior to trial, Beaufort County filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. The remaining case and claims against the private Communities were held in abeyance pending adjudication of the County's motion. Prior to hearing on the motion Beaufort County and Appellants agreed upon stipulated facts which were accepted by the Court as the facts before the Court to adjudicate the motion, and no testimony was taken at hearing, which was conducted remotely. The Master-in-Equity for Beaufort County, the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III, granted the County's motion for summary judgment, and denied Appellants' motion to reconsider. This appeal follows.

D. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action to set aside a tax sale lies in equity. Reeping v. Jebbco, LLC, 402 S.C. 195, 198, 740 S.E.2d 504, 506 (Ct. App. 2013); Osterneck v. Osterneck, 374 S.C. 573, 577, 649 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 2007). Upon review of cases tried before a Master-in-Equity, the Court of Appeals may determine facts in accordance with (its) own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Reeping Id., citing King v. James, 388 S.C. 16, 694

S.E. 2d 35 (Ct. App. 2010). When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this Court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, that summary judgment is only proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Coker v. Cummings, 381 S.C. 45, 671 S.E.2d 383, 386 (Ct. App. 2008).

E. ARGUMENT

1. Appellants should have been permitted to cancel or assign their tax sale bids when they requested to do so.

This action is to set aside deeds is an action to quiet title and thus equitable principals should be applied to the facts at hand. However, in Key Corporate v. County of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55 (2007) our Supreme Court held that tax sales cases are cases of statutory interpretation. The case sub judice is a hybrid case because the Appellants are not the taxpayer, and thus not the party ostensibly protected by statute, yet at the same time the statute provides protections for bidders in the realm of assignment and cancellation, as set forth below. Thus, Appellants argue that both statutory construction and equity apply.

Title to the subject property could not vest until after the expiration of the underlying taxpayers redemption period. Thus, Once the Appellants informed the Treasurer that they desired to cancel or assign their bids, prior to the expiration of the redemption period, Appellants should have been informed of their right to do so and if a form was available for that purpose, provided the form by the Treasurer. They were not. [Stipulation of Facts No. 5 and No. 6].

SECTION 12-51-90 provides: Redemption of real property; assignment of purchaser's interest.

(A) The defaulting taxpayer, any grantee from the owner, or any mortgage or judgment creditor may within twelve months from the date of the delinquent tax sale redeem each item of real estate by paying to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs, together with interest as provided in subsection (B) of this section. *If prior to the expiration of the redemption period, the purchaser assigns his interest in any real property purchased at a delinquent tax sale, the grantee from the successful bidder shall furnish the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes a conveyance, witnessed and notarized. The person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes shall replace the successful bidder's name and address with the grantee's name and address in the delinquent tax sale book.*

Assignment forms may be furnished by the Treasurer's Office as is set forth in Spartanburg County's website: <https://www.spartanburgcounty.org/408/Tax-Procedures>.

Thus, the statute sets forth the contemplated procedure for the bidder to assign its bid. In the instant case, upon request by the Appellants, the Treasurer's office could have provided the appropriate assignment forms and should have provided those forms. Had Appellants been provided the forms, the Appellants could have sought assistance, and caused the property bids to be assigned to the party who advanced the funds for bid, or alternatively, to parties who wanted to own property in the subject private communities and whom could afford the assessments in those communities. Appellants note that the public duty doctrine as elaborated in Arthurs v. Aiken, 358 SC 253 (1999) is not simply a rule that grants immunity in tort cases—the Court in Arthurs cited South Carolina law to guide the actions of public officials in general and the special duties of public office and in such described a public interest doctrine within the public duty doctrine.

“The public duty rule was originally adopted by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Parker v. Brown, 195 S.C. 35, 10 S.E.2d 625 (1940):

The law necessarily grants certain discretion to its officers in handling the public business. In one instance it may be wise for a public officer to pursue one course, in another instance, another course. Those charged with protecting the public interest should view that interest as supreme, should consider what is best for the public, and should be free at all times to prosecute the course that appears to be in the public interest.... It is well settled that an individual has no right of action against a public officer for breach of a duty owing to the public only, even though such individual be specially injured thereby. Where a duty is owing to the public only, an officer is not liable to an individual who may have been incidentally injured by his failure to perform it. Arthurs v Aiken Id at 262

The procedure for cancellation of a bid is not as clearly described in Section 12-51-90. However, another section of the Code grants the Treasurer broad latitude to cancel a sale:

SECTION 12-51-150 provides:

“If the official in charge of the tax sale discovers before a tax title has passed that there is a failure of any action required to be properly performed, the official may void the tax sale and refund the amount paid, plus interest in the amount actually earned by the county on the amount refunded, to the successful bidder. If the full amount of the taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs have not been paid, the property must be brought to tax sale as soon as practicable.”

Indeed, counties around the state put the public on notice that a tax sale can be voided at any time prior to the issuance of a tax deed.

Significantly, Beaufort County's current website and information inform tax sale bidder's that the Treasurer may void a sale pursuant to 12-51-150.

See: <https://www.beaufortcountytreasurer.com/bidders>.

In the instant case, Appellants argue that the Treasurer's officer owed a duty to cancel the sale once she timely learned that the Appellants did not want to proceed with their purchase, and particularly under the circumstances where Appellants can demonstrate at trial that it was or should have been clear to the Treasurer officer that Appellants did not understand English, did not understand the sale process, and that Appellants were surprised by the levying of assessments against them, as well as their underlying inability to pay. The Treasurer also had discretion to void the sale. Exactly what the Appellants told the Treasurer's Office and exactly how the Office responded are fact intensive and survive summary judgment. Yet, Appellants assert that Treasurer had the authority to cancel the sale, and there are circumstances under which the Treasurer could and should have canceled the sale in the interest of equitable considerations, which would have avoided harm to both the Appellants and the Defendant private Communities. In this case Appellants argue the Treasurer had a public duty to take action that would avoid the damages that Appellants and the Communities have incurred. Respondent cited Quail Hill LLC v. County of Richland, 387 S.C. 223 (2010) for the proposition that a Treasurer does not have a duty to inform tax sale bidders of property conditions. Quail Hill is not controlling on this point because Appellants allege that the Treasurer failed to exercise due care or proper discretion in the process of completing the tax sale, i.e. not providing correct information regarding cancellation or assignment to the bidders post

sale. Appellants further argue that the tax sale statute should be interpreted narrowly and with legislative intent and taking public policy into consideration. Folk v Thomas 344 S.C. 77 (2001), Key Corporate, *Supra* and State v Jacobs, 393 S.C 584 (2011) for guiding principles of statutory interpretation.

Further, in the case sub judice, where there is no evidence that the Appellants knew or could have known from the tax sale information provided to bidders that purchasing the Properties would subject them to liability for assessments and initiation fees, equity compels sitting aside the Deeds. To wit, there is no evidence in the record that the tax sale listing of subject properties included the communities that the properties were situated in, or other information that would put the Appellants on notice regarding where they were purchasing and the associated costs of ownership. Indeed, the discovery in this case reflected that at some points in recent history the County permitted representatives of private communities to attend and distribute notices regarding the costs of owning properties within those communities, presumably to avoid the results manifest in this case. Yet, there is no evidence in the record before the Court that such information regarding the private communities was made available at the 2014 Beaufort County tax sale. The existence of such information or lack thereof would be a fact determination for the Court. The County argues that it has no duty to provide such information, citing Quail Hill. Appellants argue that while Quail Hill can be read to impose a caveat emptor standard on tax sale bidders, if the evidence in this case ultimately demonstrates that the County has permitted information by private communities to be posted and circulated at tax sales, the County is assuming that role and duty and circumventing Quail Hill by course of dealing.

2. Payment of recording fees.

S.C. Code Section 12-51-130 provides in pertinent part:

“The successful purchaser, or assignee, is responsible for the actual cost of preparing the tax title plus documentary stamps necessary to be affixed and recording fees. The successful purchaser, or assignee, shall pay the amounts to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes before delivery of the tax title to the clerk of court or register of deeds and, upon payment, the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes is responsible for promptly transmitting the tax title to the clerk of court or register of deeds for recording and remitting the recording fee and documentary stamps cost.”

The parties stipulated that it was the County’s practice at the time to collect recording fees from the bidder at the time of the bid. However, there was no specific evidence offered pre-hearing that such fees were collected for that purpose. Thus, the Appellants did not tender their filing fees, and by not doing so did not complete the process necessary to cause recording of the Deed(s). The County alleged that the alleged bid overages were or are properly applied to substitute for the bidders tendering such fees under Section 130. However, to reach this result, the Court must undertake an analysis of statutory construction, starting with the plain language of the statute which compels a result to set aside the sale on this technicality. To reach the County’s conclusion on the issue of tendering fees, not only will the Court have to interpret the statute in a manner different from its plain language, but also undertake a factual examination regarding the legislative intent behind the statute, and the historical practices and course of dealing in Beaufort County and elsewhere. Summary