RECEIVED

Jun 24 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Marvin V. Dukes III, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2020-001148

Juan Antonio Adame Tapia
and Oscar Moreno

Appellants,

vs.

Maria Walls, in her capacity
As Treasurer for Beaufort
County, Berkeley Hall Club,
Inc., Colleton River Plantation
Club, Inc., Callawassie Island
Property Owners Association,
Inc., Belfair Property Owners
Association, Inc. et al

Defendants

Of which Maria Walls in her
capacity as Treasurer for
Beaufort County is

Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Mary Bass Lohr
Howell, Gibson & Hughes, P.A.
PO Box 40

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS HAD NO LEGAL OR EQUITABLE BASIS TO CHALLENGE THE VALIDITY OF THEIR PURCHASES AT TAX SALE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural history

The Appellants purchased multiple properties at the October 2014 Beaufort County Tax Sale. The Appellants filed this action to set aside the relevant tax sales. A motion for summary judgment was filed by Maria Walls, Treasurer of Beaufort County (hereinafter “Treasurer”). This motion was based on facts stipulated to by both parties for the purpose of the motion for summary judgment only. On July 10 2020, the trial court granted the summary judgment motion and dismissed the Appellants action to set aside the tax sales. The Appellants did not move to reconsider but directly filed this appeal by notice of appeal on August 7, 2020. This appeal follows.

2. Facts before the trial court

The parties have entered into stipulations of fact for the purpose of the motion for summary judgment only. **(See Stipulations of Fact)** The facts as agreed upon by the parties as it relates to this appeal are that the Appellants individually and/or together were the successful bidders on eight properties at the October 6, 2014 Beaufort

County Tax Sale. These properties were located in various developments and plantations that require the payment of yearly assessments or club memberships. The Appellants were unaware of the assessments at the time they bid on the relevant properties. After the relevant bids were accepted by the Treasurer, but before the end of the redemption period a year later in October 2015, the Appellants received notice from the various Homeowners associations and Clubs that they were going to be assessed thousands of dollars in assessments and membership dues as the owners of the relevant properties. For the purpose of the motion for summary judgment and this appeal only, it is stipulated that the Appellants communicated several times with the Treasurer's Office prior to the end of the redemption period seeking to cancel the sale and/or assign their bid, and on at least one occasion, they were advised by an unknown employee of the Treasurer that they were not allowed to do that. This statement was partially in error as it was made prior to October 2015. While bids are not allowed to be cancelled, bids may be assigned if such assignment is made prior to the end of the relevant redemption period.

The properties were not redeemed during the redemption period. The cost associated with recording the tax sale title set forth in S.C. Ann. §12-51-130 were collected from the Appellants as part of the bid payment at the tax sale according to the standard tax sale procedure of the Treasurer. The Treasurer recorded the tax sale deeds subsequent to the end of the redemption period over the objection of the Appellants.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An action to set aside a tax sale lies in equity.” King v. James, 388 S.C. 16, 24, 694 S.E.2d 35, 39 (Ct.App.2010). “[The] scope of review for a case heard by a[m]aster permits us to determine facts in accordance with our own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Id.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THE APPELLANTS HAD NO LEGAL OR EQUITABLE BASIS TO CHALLENGE THE VALIDITY OF THEIR PURCHASES AT TAX SALE.

The Appellants contend that the court erred in granting summary judgment because the relevant tax sales should be set aside for two reasons:

- 1) The Treasurer erred in providing the Plaintiffs with incorrect information in that it advised that they could not cancel or assign their bids prior to the expiration of the redemption period when in fact S.C. Code Ann 12-51-90(A) appears to permit just such an action;
- 2) The Treasurer erred in recording the Tax Deeds for the relevant properties without first collecting from the bidder/purchaser recording fees and costs as required by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-130;

Initially, it should be noted that these arguments do not address the ultimate determination that as purchasers at tax sale they had no legal or equitable basis to challenge the validity of the tax sale. Not only do they not specifically address the trial

court's ruling in the Appellants' brief, but they never filed a motion for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRC, to raise any issue or error to the trial court's attention. Because the Appellants never raised any issue with the trial court's ruling to its attention, there is no issue with that ruling preserved for review by this court. On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) Similarly, the failure to provide argument or supporting authority for an issue renders it abandoned Joubert v. South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs., 341 S.C. 176, 192-93, 534 S.E.2d 1, 9-10 (Ct.App.2000). Since the Appellants have not preserved any argument challenging the order of the trial court, the ruling of the trial court should be affirmed.

Furthermore, even if the court does not find that the Appellants failed to preserve any basis for the appeal of the trial court's order, as a matter of law, the grounds for appeal raised by the Appellants do not support the voiding of the tax sale and as such the causes against her should be dismissed and she should be granted summary judgment in this matter.

- a) Even if Treasurer's employee erred, as stipulated, in providing the Appellants with incorrect information in that it advised that they could not cancel or assign their bids prior to the expiration of the redemption period this does not warrant the voiding of the tax sale.

The Appellants contend that the tax sale should be set aside since some Treasurer's employee provided them with incorrect information regarding the ability to cancel or assign a bid prior the end of the redemption period when in fact S.C. Code Ann 12-51-90(A) appears to permit just such an action. This is not the case, as the Appellants had an adequate means of knowledge to make them aware that assignment was an

available option prior to the end of the redemption period, and are not entitled to the relief requested

An action to set aside a tax sale lies in equity. See Godfrey v. Webb, 277 S.C. 246, 285 S.E.2d 883 (1982); Folk v. Thomas, 336 S.C. 466, 520 S.E.2d 327 (Ct.App.1999). Our Courts have previously held that a Plaintiff is not entitled to equitable relief when it is provided incorrect information by a County employee when he has “the means of knowledge” to determine the correct information. In Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland, the Plaintiff sought to estop the County from enforcing its zoning ordinance when an employee of the County had previously advised them of zoning for a property that was incorrect. The Court ruled that the Plaintiff had a “means of knowledge” of the correct zoning based on the County ordinance and zoning map and the Plaintiff was not entitled to equitable estoppel to obtain the erroneous zoning.

Similarly, here while it is stipulated for the purpose of this motion and appeal, that the Treasurer’s employee provided erroneous information to the Plaintiffs related to their ability to assign the property, the Appellants had access to at least two sources of information that would have informed them that assignment was an available option. Just as in Quail Hill, the Appellants have access to the controlling statute that provides, in relevant part, “that if prior to the expiration of the redemption period, the purchaser assigns his interest in any real property purchased at the delinquent tax sale, the grantee from the successful bidder shall furnish the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes a conveyance...” S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-90(A). Additionally, the 2014 Bidder Cards provided and signed by the Appellants make specific reference to

assignees rights. (See **2014 Tax Sale Bidder Cards Attached as Exhibit A and B to Memo in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment**).

Moreover, the Treasurer knows of no jurisprudence in equity or in law that would allow the Purchaser at tax sale to challenge the validity of the sale. Importantly, the cases in this state which have allowed the setting aside of a tax sale, are those in which the delinquent taxpayer has challenged the notice requirements of the sale and the Court has found a procedural defect in the notice of and/or sale itself.

Specifically these actions are brought as actions under S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-160 and are expressly referenced as “an action for the recovery of land sold pursuant to this chapter or for the recovery of the possession.” While the Appellants claim that this action is one to quiet title, very clearly it is not. It is an action to void a tax sale. While it is true our courts have consistently held “the enforcing agencies of government to strict compliance with all the legal requirements surrounding tax sales.” Dibble v. Bryant, 274 S.C. 481, 483, 265 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1980); that is specifically in those actions to set a tax sale aside or where the delinquent taxpayer seeks to recover their property and defend against a purchaser looking to quiet title. It is important to note that “all requirements of the law leading up to tax sales [that] are intended for the protection of the taxpayer against surprise or the sacrifice of his property are to be regarded [as] mandatory and are to be strictly enforced.” Donohue v. Ward, 298 S.C. 75, 83, 378 S.E.2d 261, 265 (Ct. App. 1989) (emphasis added)(citing Osborne v. Vallentine, 196 S.C. 90, 94, 12 S.E.2d 856, 858 (1941)). The equitable and public policy behind requiring strict construction of tax sale statutes is clearly for the benefit of the delinquent taxpayer seeking to recover the property, and not for a purchaser with buyer’s remorse.

Based on the foregoing, as a matter of law there is no legal or equitable principle upon which the Appellants may rely to void a tax sale based on erroneous information from a County employee, when they had a means of knowledge for that same information.

- b) The Treasurer did not err in recording the Tax Deeds for the relevant properties without first collecting from the bidder/purchaser recording fees and costs as required by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-130.

The Appellants also assert that the Treasurer erred in recoding the Tax Deeds in question in this matter without first collecting from the bidder/purchaser recording fees and costs as required by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-130. However, the Treasurer did collect from the bidder/purchaser recording fees and costs as required by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-130 prior to recording.

The parties have stipulated that it is the testimony of Kimberly Chesney that it was the practice of the Treasurer at the October 2014 tax sale to collect the recording fees at the time the bid amount was received. The purchaser summary receipt shows fees collected above the sale price for each of the subject properties. (**See Purchaser Summary Sheet**) Section 12-51-130 simply requires that “the successful purchaser, or assignee, shall pay the amounts [of the costs and fees] to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes before delivery of the tax title to the clerk of court or register of deeds...” It does not say when this must occur. Therefore, collection of these funds at the time of payment of the bid is not prohibited, nor is it in violation of the statutory scheme, and the tax title was properly recorded. Furthermore, no court has ever found that an entire tax sale must be set aside because the purchaser regretted the purchase and sought to block the recording of the deed.

It is respectfully submitted that the Treasurer did not err in collecting the recording fees with the payment of the bid price and using those sums to record the tax title.

CONCLUSION

Based on all of the above, the Appellants have provided no basis for their challenge to the relevant tax sales and the trial court's order below, and this court should affirm the ruling of the trial court finding that summary judgment is appropriate and the Appellants' claim against Walls should be dismissed.

HOWELL, GIBSON & HUGHES, P.A.